# SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. SC-06-1617

# SPEEDWAY SUPERAMERICA,

Petitioner/Defendant,

VS.

# ERMA DUPONT,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

Petition Seeking Discretionary Review
Of a Decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal
Certifying a Question of Great Public Importance
(5<sup>th</sup> DCA Case No. 04-14)

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

ALLEN, NORTON & BLUE, P.A. Susan Potter Norton Florida Bar No. 0201847 Brian Koji Florida Bar No. 0116297 121 Majorca Avenue, Suite 300 Coral Gables, Florida 33134

Ph: (305) 445-7801 Fax: (305) 442-7578

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# I. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL AND CERTIFICATION OF A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

On March 9, 1999, Erma Dupont ("Dupont") filed her amended complaint in this case asserting that Speedway SuperAmerica LLC ("Speedway") violated the Florida Civil Rights Act, § 760.01 *et seq.*, Fla. Stat. (1997) ("FCRA"), as a consequence of being subjected to a sexually hostile working environment by coworker Joel Coryell ("Coryell"). (Vol. I, pp. 39-45).

A jury trial was held on August 25-29, 2003, before the Honorable Judge John Dean Moxley. (Vols. XIII-XVII). Speedway moved for directed verdict as to Dupont's sexual harassment claim at the close of her case-in-chief and again prior to submission of the case to the jury, both of which were denied by the trial court. (Vol. XVI, pp. 504-17). The jury found in Dupont's favor on her sexual harassment claim, awarding \$88.80 in backpay, \$40,000 in compensatory damages and \$40,000 in punitive damages. (Vol. VIII, pp. 1067-69; Vol. XVI, pp. 812-15).

Speedway timely appealed the denial of its directed verdict motions to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The District Court panel unanimously reversed the trial court, holding that the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Dupont,

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court granted Speedway's directed verdict motion as to Dupont's retaliation claim. (Vol. XVI, pp. 515-16). Dupont has not challenged this ruling on appeal. The trial court also denied Speedway's post-trial motions renewing its directed verdict arguments. (Vol. VIII, pp. 1134-44, 1152-58, 1161-63).

did not establish that Coryell's conduct toward Dupont was sufficiently severe or pervasive to constitute actionable sexual harassment. *Speedway SuperAmerica LLC v. Dupont*, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D1641, 2005 WL 1537247 (July 1, 2005).

Thereafter, Dupont sought rehearing, rehearing *en banc* and certification of the issue. The full Fifth District Court of Appeal granted rehearing *en banc*,<sup>2</sup> withdrew the panel decision, affirmed the trial court's ruling and reinstated the jury verdict in its entirety. *Speedway SuperAmerica LLC v. Dupont*, 933 So. 2d 75 (2006) (as corrected). Dissenting, Judge Thompson authored a comprehensive 27-page decision supporting the propriety of the panel's initial decision.

In reaching its conclusion, the *en banc* court held that Dupont had introduced sufficient competent evidence to permit the jury to find that she had been subjected to severe and pervasive harassment on the basis of her sex. The court further held that Dupont satisfied the requirement that the harassment be "based on sex" by testifying that "she perceived Coryell's remarks, jokes, and physical touching as sexual and that his demeaning and intimidating actions were directed at her because she was female." *Speedway*, 933 So. 2d at 85. The Court also noted that "[h]is verbal abuse confirmed that he both lusted after females and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As the Court is aware, rehearing *en banc* may only be ordered where the District Court determines the case is of exceptional importance or is necessary to maintain uniformity of the its decisions. Fla. R. App. P. 9.331(a). As the District did not grant rehearing to resolve a conflict in its decisions, it necessarily found that this case was of exceptional importance.

enjoyed demeaning them," notwithstanding the fact that the evidence introduced at trial indicated that Coryell was verbally indignant toward both males and females. *Speedway*, 933 So. 2d at 85.

Lastly, the *en banc* court also upheld the award of punitive damages against Speedway, but noted that "it is not clear what the standard is for punitive damages awarded under section 760.10." *Speedway*, 933 So. 2d at 90. The court stated that it might well be that *Mercury Motors Express, Inc. v. Smith*, 393 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1981), controls. *Id.* However, since the standard in *Mercury Motors* would necessarily result in punitive damages being properly assessed in every harassment case, the court noted that a showing of "willful and wanton behavior" on the part of the employer might be required. *Speedway*, 933 So. 2d at 90. The court sustained the award but, characterizing it as a "close case," sought guidance from this Court by certifying the following question of great public importance:

DOES THE RULE ANNOUNCED IN *MERCURY MOTORS EXPRESS, INC. v. SMITH*, 393 So.2d 545 (FLA. 1981), UNDER WHICH AN EMPLOYER CAN BE HELD VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES BASED UPON THE WILLFUL AND WANTON CONDUCT OF ITS EMPLOYEE, APPLY TO PUNITIVE DAMAGE AWARDS UNDER SECTION 760.11(5), FLORIDA STATUTES?

Thereafter, Speedway requested that the District Court also certify the additional issues ruled upon by the *en banc* court, including the type of conduct that constitutes severe and pervasive harassment under the FCRA, whether non-

sexual conduct directed toward both males and females could constitute harassment based on sex for purposes of the FCRA and whether an hourly lead worker is properly considered a supervisor under the FCRA. The District Court declined to certify the additional issues as being of great public importance, notwithstanding that it had determined that the case was of exceptional importance in electing to rehear the matter *en banc*.

Although the District Court refused to certify these issues, Speedway respectfully requests that, in addition to addressing the certified question with regard to the punitive damages issue, this Court also review the issues mentioned above as the Court's interpretation is necessary not only to support any award of punitive damages in this case but are also necessary to provide guidance to employers confronted with the task of complying with both state and federal laws prohibiting sexual harassment.<sup>3</sup> Further, this Court has never had occasion to pass upon the substantive standards imposed by the FCRA in cases involving allegations of sexual harassment. The present case involves many of the issues common to claims of sexual harassment under the FCRA and, as such, provides an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To the extent that this Court has jurisdiction to review the certified question, the Court may also exercise its discretion to review any issues raised and briefed during the appellate process, which it has done on a number of occasions. Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982); State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Nichols, 932 So. 2d 1067, 1078 (Fla. 2006); Boca Burger, Inc. v. Forum, 912 So. 2d 561, 563 (Fla. 2005). The Court may elect to exercise its discretion even where the District Court declines to certify the additional issues. See e.g., State v. Herny, 781 So. 2d 1067, 1068 (Fla. 2001).

appropriate vehicle for this Court to provide definitive guidance concerning the application of the FCRA.

Importantly, the District Court in this case specifically agreed with Speedway that a number of federal cases (including the Eleventh Circuit's *en banc* decision in *Mendoza v. Borden, Inc.*, 195 F.3d 1238, 1245 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999) (*en banc*), *cert. denied*, 529 U.S. 1068, 120 S.Ct. 1624, 146 L.Ed.2d 483 (2000)) have rejected sexual harassment claims based upon greater evidence than was presented in this case. Notwithstanding this observation and despite the fact that Florida courts have repeatedly instructed that the FCRA should be construed in a manner consistent with Title VII and its interpretive federal case law, <sup>4</sup> the District Court found that Dupont had presented sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.

The practical effect of the Court's decision in this respect is that Florida employers are now held to differing legal standards when applying federal and state anti-harassment statutes, a result inconsistent with the well-settled principle that state and federal discrimination statutes be construed in a like manner. As conceded by Dupont's counsel before the District Court, the result in this case

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Since the FCRA was patterned after the federal anti-discrimination and anti-harassment statutes, Florida courts apply federal precedent in interpreting the FCRA insofar as the construction is not inharmonious with the FCRA's spirit and policy. *Natson v. Eckerd Corp., Inc.*, 885 So. 2d 945, 947 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004); *Russell v. KSL Hotel Corp.*, 887 So. 2d 372, 377 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004); *Castleberry v. Edward M. Chadbourne, Inc.*, 810 So. 2d 1028, 1030, n.3 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) (*per curiam*).

would be that liability would not attach were the matter tried under Title VII while it would attach under the FCRA. (See Dupont's Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing *En Banc* and for Certification). Until the District Court's *en banc* decision in this case, Florida courts have never sanctioned different interpretations of state and federal discrimination statutes except in cases where, unlike here, the language or procedures of the statutes differ.

The District Court's decision lowers the bar of actionable conduct to now encompass merely uncomfortable or bothersome conduct, conduct far below that recognized by federal precedent binding upon Florida employers. Mendoza, 195 F.3d at 1251 ("Were we to conclude that the conduct established by Mendoza was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter her terms or conditions of employment, we would establish a baseline of actionable conduct that is far below that established by other circuits"). Lastly, as any award of punitive damages necessarily depends upon the proper imposition of liability in the first place, this Court's review of the underlying liability issue could also impact the Court's determination as to the propriety of the punitive damages award. Since the punitive damages issue has been certified by the District Court, this Court should review not only that issue but also the underlying finding of liability necessary to support any punitive damages award. For these reasons, Speedway requests that

the Court review both the certified punitive damages question and the underlying imposition of liability in this case.

# II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

# A. Background

Dupont began working for Speedway as a cashier on approximately September 8, 1996. (Vol. XIV, pp. 210, 232). Until the end of February 1997, Dupont worked the third shift between 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. (Vol. XIV, pp. 206-207, 215). While working the third shift, Dupont did not work alongside any other co-workers. (Vol. XIV, p. 215). In late February, Dupont was reassigned to the second shift and scheduled to work between 3:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. (Vol. XIV, pp. 207, 215).

In March 1997, she began working with Coryell on a couple of occasions per week. (Vol. XIV, p. 216). The store manager during this period of time was Larry Gelbert. (Vol. XV, pp. 339, 381). Rosie Reuben was the assistant manager at the time. (Vol. XIV, p. 232; Vol. XV, pp. 337, 339).

Although she testified that she did not read it, Dupont did confirm that she understood that Speedway had a policy prohibiting sexual harassment and that she must report improper conduct to a supervisor. (Vol. XIV, pp. 254, 270, 304, 313). In actuality, Speedway did indeed maintain an anti-harassment policy, which was posted on the store bulletin board located alongside the beverage machines which

Dupont cleaned on a daily basis. (Vol. XIV, p. 272; Vol. XVI, p. 525). In addition to maintaining a policy prohibiting harassment, Speedway's normal practice is to apprise newly hired employees of its anti-harassment policy and 1-800 reporting hotline. (Vol. XV, pp. 365-366; Vol. XVI, p. 525). Speedway also provided equal employment opportunity and anti-harassment training for all of its managers. (Vol. XV, pp. 365-366, 382-383, 409).

At any given point, the Speedway store at issue in this case employed approximately nine employees, most of them part time, to operate three shifts per day, seven days per week. (Vol. XV, pp. 426-427; Vol. XVI, pp. 524, 544, 583).

# B. <u>Plaintiff's Interactions With Coryell</u>

Upon being transferred to work on the second shift, Dupont testified that she experienced issues with Coryell over the course of eight to nine weeks which made her uncomfortable. (Vol. XIV, pp. 217, 221).

Initially, Dupont testified that Coryell tried to complement her but that it made her feel uncomfortable. (Vol. XIV, pp. 216-217). On one occasion, he told her that she would "look good as a biker chick" and that she "looked hot" in her Speedway uniform vest. (Vol. XIV, p. 223). Her response at that time was to simply ignore him. (Vol. XIV, pp. 217, 230). On one other occasion he commented about his sex life and that he needed a girlfriend. (Vol. XIV, pp. 218,

301). On other occasions, he made crude comments about female customers, such as "wasn't that nice, wish I could get some of that." (Vol. XIV, p. 223).

Dupont testified that Coryell often also exhibited an angry temper and routinely used profanity. (Vol. XIV, pp. 218-219, 221-222). In this respect, he often used the phrase "god damn" and also "liked to call people stupid bitch or simple son of a bitch, dumb bastard," phrases which Dupont admitted were not derogatory terms toward women. (Vol. XIV, pp. 221-222, 285). On occasion, he called her a "stupid bitch" or "dumb blonde" when she was slow counting the safe or her count did not match his. (Vol. XIV, pp. 222, 224-225, 230).

Coryell also regularly threw or slammed objects such as pens, pencils, clothes pins, cigarettes and keys. (Vol. XIV, pp. 218-220). Although Dupont admits that Coryell did not target her when he indiscriminately threw objects, at times they would land in her vicinity. (Vol. XIV, pp. 219-220, 279, 286-287, 318). Referring to his behavior and temper in this respect, Dupont testified that she subjectively believed that "[h]e was just the most violent person I ever saw in my life" and that "[h]e scared me to death." (Vol. XIV, pp. 217, 319).

Dupont also testified that Coryell often stood over her as she knelt down to count the floor safe "like he was trying to watch me count it." (Vol. XIV, pp. 218, 228).

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At trial, Dupont conceded that she was not naturally blonde. (Vol. XIV, p. 295).

On two occasions as Dupont stood at the register, Coryell came up behind her and touched her. (Vol. XIV, pp. 217-218). On one such occasion, he massaged her neck and shoulders. (Vol. XIV, pp. 298, 322). On the other occasion (which occurred in late April), as Coryell walked by her, he patted her on the buttocks and kept walking. (Vol. XIV, pp. 218, 222, 255, 299). Lastly, on one occasion in late April, as Coryell came around a corner he grabbed Dupont's wrist and pulled her toward him, although their bodies did not touch. (Vol. XIV, pp. 245, 300).

# C. Plaintiff's Complaints Concerning Coryell's Conduct

Dupont asserts that the first time she mentioned Coryell's conduct to anyone at Speedway was the Sunday between the third and fourth weeks of March, 1997 (which was about two weeks after the conduct started) when she told Reuben about the "dumb blonde" comment Coryell made while she was counting the safe. (Vol. XIV, pp. 225, 240-241; Vol. XV, pp. 340-341). Between March 20, 1997 and April 9, 1997, Dupont and Coryell only worked one shift together. (Vol. XVII, Def. Ex. 1, pp. 75, 81-82, 92-93).

Shortly thereafter, during the week of April 411, 1997 and following the incident where Coryell massaged her neck and shoulders and brushed against her while walking by, Dupont decided to discuss Coryell's conduct with the store manager. (Vol. XIV, pp. 230-231, 241, 254-255). As Gelbert was in Ohio during

that week for training, Dupont discussed it with acting manager Barbara Bresner. (Vol. XIV, p. 230; Vol. XV, pp. 361, 381, 409). At that time, she informed Bresner what was occurring and that she was fearful of Coryell. (Vol. XIV, p. 230; Vol. XV, p. 362). In response, Bresner notified district manager Julie Rambo. (Vol. XIV, p. 231; Vol. XV, p. 363-364; Vol. XVI, pp. 520, 527-528).

Toward the end of April to beginning of May and approximately two weeks after she discussed it with Bresner, Dupont also discussed Coryell's conduct with Gelbert. (Vol XIV, pp. 241, 255; Vol. XV, p. 387). When she discussed the matter with Gelbert, she told him everything that had occurred between her and Coryell and that she was afraid of him. (Vol. XIV, pp. 241-242, 245, 258-259, 296, 319-320; Vol. XV, pp. 387, 410, 421). Notably, at trial Dupont readily admitted that she had not told Reuben or Bresner about the physical conduct, which she only reported Gelbert. (Vol. XIV, p. 258; Vol. XVI, p. 528). Additionally, when she discussed her concerns with Reuben, Bresner and Gelbert, Dupont did not mention the term "sexual harassment." (Vol. XIV, p. 257; Vol. XV, pp. 373, 377).

# D. Speedway's Response to Dupont's Concerns and Subsequent Minor Interaction Between Dupont and Coryell

Following her discussion with Bresner, Dupont indicated that Coryell continued to "talk down to [her]," hover over her while she counted the safe and made comments such as "stupid can't count the safe" and "dumb blonde." (Vol.

XIV, pp. 255-257). Dupont admitted, however, that Coryell did not exhibit any anger in these instances. (Vol. XIV, p. 257).

When Dupont discussed the matter with Gelbert, he replied that Coryell's conduct was "unacceptable" and they discussed how the matter could be resolved. (Vol. XIV, p. 242). Specifically, as Dupont readily admits, he accepted her word and "offered that he change the schedule so we wouldn't have to work together and I told him that would be fine." (Vol. XIV, pp. 242, 246, 307-308; Vol. XV, p. 389). Dupont stressed that Gelbert "made every effort" to ensure that they did not have to work the same shift. (Vol. XIV, p. 242).

Indeed, following his discussion with Dupont, Gelbert considered several options to alleviate Dupont's concerns. (Vol. XV, p. 388). To this end, Gelbert testified, "basically, what we did was we put a mitigation plan so that neither one would never [sic] work together on the same shift." (Vol. XV, p. 388). Thereafter, Gelbert adjusted the Dupont's and Coryell's schedules accordingly. (Vol. XV, pp. 388, 395, 422).

Gelbert also instructed Dupont to immediately report any future improper conduct to him. (Vol. XV, p. 390). It is also undisputed that Gelbert counseled Coryell. (Vol. XV, pp. 389, 397, 441).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Similarly, Rambo testified that the "goal was to satisfy Erma [Dupont] and keep them apart as much as possible." (Vol. XVI, p. 552).

Significantly, the evidence is undisputed that, following Dupont's complaint to Bresner which was relayed to Rambo, Speedway took steps at that time to separate the shifts of Dupont and Coryell, effective with the preparation of the next two-week schedule on April 24, 1997. (Vol. XVI, pp. 530, 541, 570-571). Save for the one occasion in late May which precipitated her resignation, Dupont and Coryell were never scheduled to work the same shift after April 24, 1997. (Vol. XVI, pp. 541-542). Furthermore, between April 10, 1997 and April 24, 1997, Dupont and Coryell were only scheduled and worked on the same shift on April 12, 1997. (Vol. XVII, Def. Ex. 1, pp. 95-96, 110, 115, 120, 125).

Following the adjustment to the schedules, Dupont and Coryell only had contact with each other approximately once per week (four times). (Vol. XIV, pp. 243; Vol. XVI, pp. 541-549, 584-585). This typically occurred only when there was a changeover between the shift that Dupont worked to one where Coryell worked. (Vol. XIV, p. 243). The payroll records indicated that the combined amount of time that Dupont and Coryell overlapped after April 24 (and through her resignation in May) amounted to only a few several hours. (Vol. XVI, p. 584).

The first occasion that the payroll records indicate an overlap was for a forty-five minute store meeting attended by all nine store employees. (Vol. XVI, pp. 542-544, 584).

The second occasion occurred on May 3, 1997 where Dupont stayed beyond the end of scheduled 7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. shift by twenty minutes while Coryell began work at 3:00 p.m., resulting in an overlap of twenty minutes. (Vol. XVI, pp. 545-546, 585). Notably, the payroll records also indicated that Reuben, co-worker Jerry Schneider and a Mash Hoagies<sup>7</sup> employee were working in the store at that time as well. (Vol. XVI, pp. 545-546).

On the third occasion, on May 18, Reuben called Coryell in early for his shift because she had to leave to make a deposit at the bank. (Vol. XIV, pp. 246, 308; Vol. XV, p. 345; Vol. XVI, pp. 547, 585). Coryell came in to work forty-five minutes early on that date and Dupont stayed fifty minutes beyond her scheduled quitting time that day, resulting in an overlap of their schedules of one hour and thirty-five minutes. (Vol. XIV, pp. 246; Vol. XVI, pp. 547-548, 553). Notwithstanding the fact that they had to work together for this one hour and thirty-five minutes, Dupont specifically admits that "nothing happened" with Coryell that day. (Vol. XIV, pp. 246, 309). To the contrary, Coryell spent the entire time working in the walk-in cooler and they did not even speak to each other or touch each other. (Vol. XIV, pp. 247, 308; Vol. XV, p. 345).

Lastly, on May 25 the payroll records revealed that Dupont stayed twenty minutes beyond her shift and Coryell clocked in fifteen minutes prior to the start of

14

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