SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SPEEDWAY SUPERAMERICA, LLC,

Petitioner/Defendant,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC-06-1617

Erma Dupont,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

_____/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The Petitioner employer had actual knowledge through daily video surveillance and complaints from two or its female employees, including Plaintiff, that it had a male employee who committed violent acts in the workplace and who sexually harassed female employees, yet it failed to take prompt or effective remedial action to protect Plaintiff Irma Dupont, as the law requires. In fact, Petitioner intentionally created work assignments where Irma Dupont, who was already traumatized by the sexual harassment

and violent behavior to which she had been subjected, was required to work alone with the harasser in a locked store, at the change of shifts, and she was also told by a management employee that she would be fired if she left the store when that manager called in the harasser to work the same shift with her, and then the manager left her alone in the store with the harasser. Shortly after the ineffective attempted remedial action to have Mrs. Dupont and her harasser work different shifts, she was again scheduled to work with him and was told she would be so scheduled in the future. These latter work assignments occurred after Mrs. Dupont had reported the substantial harassment and workplace violence to which she had been subjected, and after she had been told she would no longer have to work with her harasser.

2. In enacting Chapter 760, Florida Statutes, the legislature was well aware of federal law, Title VII, and in fact it is referred to in several places in the Florida statute. Obviously, the Florida legislature felt the state should map its own course, and that federal law was not adequate to protect the citizens of Florida and to accomplish the purposes of the Florida act.

3. The law of summary judgment in the federal courts has taken a much different course than in Florida decisions. Federal judges do not hesitate to take out of the hands of the jury fundamental questions of weighing and evaluating evidence, responsibilities that have always been the

province of the jury under Florida law. A threshold question then becomes, when federal decisions are looked at for guidance, who is the proper trier of fact when there is evidence supporting a Plaintiff's case? Under the Florida Civil Rights Act and historic Florida precedent that is the role of the jury. Sexual harassment can be compared with defamation and pornography in that the best test we have are the community standards which a jury brings to a given set of facts in making that decision. Juries, not judges, are out in the general work force on a daily basis and they are in a much better position to know what is acceptable and reasonable conduct between their co-workers, and to decide what conduct on the job is so outrageous that no employee should be subjected to such conduct, and whether employers who have knowledge of such conduct by a co-worker have adequately protected that employee from future harassment, as the law requires. The record in this case shows that Speedway failed in its legal duty to Erma Dupont and that jury determination should not be disturbed by this court. The Fifth District Court of Appeals thoroughly reviewed the law and the facts in this case, and this Court should reaffirm their decision.

4. Petitioner argues that employers in Florida who have to meet the standards of Florida law in regard to sexual harassment would be unduly burdened. If this were true, Congress would pass a law pre-empting the field.

Florida employers are governed by a number of laws which are different or more stringent than federal law and yet commerce continues. The difference in the minimum wage is but one example.

5. The overriding factual issue in this case, which distinguishes it from many of the cases cited by Petitioner, is that this case involves workplace violence, as well as a constant barrage of sexual harassment to which Mrs. Dupont was subjected over a time span of 8 to 9 weeks, and throughout her 8 hour shift. If Petitioner's position were to be upheld, this Court in effect would be condoning a workplace environment where some level of sexual harassment coupled with violent acts would be acceptable, with the amount and severity of what is acceptable to be determined by a judge, and not a jury. Community standards, as determined by a jury, should be the standard under Florida law for determining whether unwelcome sexual conduct created such a severe and pervasive hostile work environment that the Florida Civil Rights Act was violated.

6. Sexual harassment takes place in the work environment, and we wouldn't be here today if we were talking about a couple of isolated minor examples of harassing behavior that were sex related, unaccompanied by violent behavior, spread over a long period of time. It is the totality of the work environment that must be viewed. Analyzing each individual act in

isolation from the totality of the work environment does not provide the protection clearly intended by the Florida legislature in enacting the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992. The presence of acts of violence, coupled with numerous acts of sexual harassment occurring every time Mrs. Dupont reported to work, when she had to work with her harasser during an 8 hour shift, as a matter of law, imposed a burden on Petitioner to protect its employee, Irma Dupont, who was being victimized by such behavior. Its failure to do so did not meet the requirements of the Florida Civil Rights Act.

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The correct standard of review under Florida law, is that if there are any genuine issues of material fact in dispute which a reasonable jury could resolve in favor of the plaintiff in a lawsuit, that is the exclusive province of the jury and a Motion for Summary Judgment, a Motion for Directed Verdict, and a Motion JNOV must be denied by the trial judge. As described in the Statement of Facts, there were numerous factual disputes which the jury under Florida law was required to resolve. There were no pure issues of law as urged by the Petitioner and there couldn't be, because almost all sexual harassment claims, by their very nature, are fact intensive issues.

When presented with a motion for directed verdict, a court must view all the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-movant, and in the face of evidence [*326] which is at odds or contradictory, all conflicts must be resolved in favor of the party against whom the motion has been made. Ticor Title Guarantee Co. v. Harbin, 674 So. 2d 781, 782 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). It is only where there is no evidence upon which a jury could properly rely, in finding for the non-moving [**14] party, that a directed verdict should be granted. Id. The same standard applies when a court addresses a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. Easton-Babcock & Assocs., Inc. v. Fernandez, 706 So. 2d 916, 919 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). A judgment must be sustained if it is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Jones v. Rives, 680 So. 2d 450, 451 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). This is the test used by the trial court as well as the standard of review on appeal. Cecile Resort, Ltd. v. Hokanson, 729 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

Jackson County Hospital v. Aldrich, 835 So.2d 318, 326-327 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) (emphasis added)

The above standard is the law of Florida, and has been followed by the courts in many cases, e.g. *Scott v. TPI Restaurants, Inc.* 798 so.2d 907; (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); *St. Johns River Water v. Fernberg Geological Services, Inc.*, 784 So.2d 500 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) "A motion for directed verdict should not be granted when there is any reasonable evidence upon which a jury could legally predicate a verdict in favor of the non-moving party." *American Motors Corporation v. Ellis*, 403 So.2d 459, 467 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) citing <u>Hartnett v. Fowler</u>, 94 So.2d 724 (Fla. 1957).

The laws prohibiting sexual harassment are relatively new and therefore one can acknowledge that it is still in the development phase, where case law adds to the growing body of the law and our understanding of its parameters. This leads directly to the question of what is the definition of sexual harassment and a hostile and offensive work environment? These terms are not defined in any statute, but our understanding of the problem and the issues are increasing, while at the same time there has not developed a litmus test to be applied in every case. The question of course arises, when considering the possible range of human behavior, individual actions and reactions, individual psyches and the mores, and standards of the community, is it even possible or desirable to attempt such definitions? While we can probably all agree that certain isolated individual acts would in the normal case not rise to the level of sexual harassment, or a sexually hostile and offensive work environment, there comes a point when a line is crossed and most people would say "yes" this is sexual harassment. community standards, as determined by a jury, is the only Applying sensible and rational way to arrive at a decision as to the existence or not of sexual harassment, when viewing a particular set of facts, such as those in this case.

The very term " a sexually hostile and offensive work environment" precludes consideration of many of the cases cited by Petitioner. Using the facts in those cases as guidance in this case would be simply taking the individual facts in this case out of the total context in which they occurred, for examination, without considering their cumulative effect, and the effect when considered with other incidents, in making a determination as to the existence, or non-existence, of a sufficiently severe and pervasive sexually hostile and offensive work environment. A jury, under the facts of this case is clearly best suited to make such determinations.

The *Mendoza* decision tells us that the analysis of sexual harassment must be from the viewpoint of a "reasonable person". The "reasonable person" standard is in reality a community standard test. The prevailing societal community standard is what a reasonable person would apply to a set of facts. The only real determinant of whether anti-social behavior directed at a woman rises to the level of a sexually hostile and offensive work environment, because it is severe or pervasive, is what a jury says it is, and that is a community standard. We simply have no better way of determining those standards than by submitting the facts to a jury. Under

Florida law only a jury can tell us what is the viewpoint of a "reasonable

person".

In analyzing these issues, we adhere to the wellsettled principle that an appellate court will not disturb a final judgment if there is competent, substantial evidence to support the verdict on which the judgment rests. Indeed, it is not the function of this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact. See Castillo v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co., 854 So. 2d 1264, 1277 (Fla. 2003) ("It is a basic tenet of appellate review that appellate courts do not reevaluate the evidence and substitute their judgment for that of the jury."); Carter v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 778 So. 2d 932, 939 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Helman v. Seaboard Coast Line R.R. Co., 349 So. 2d 1187, 1189 (Fla. 1977)) ("It is not the function of an appellate court to reevaluate the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the jury."); Grounds, 311 So. 2d at 168 (stating that an appellate court is not authorized to substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact).

Berges v. Infinity Ins. Co., 896 So. 2d 665, 675-676 (Fla., 2004)

The rule establishing the scope of appellate review is of long standing

in Florida.

But we have no authority to set aside a verdict which has been rendered by a jury and approved by the trial judge, solely on the ground that we would have found a different verdict had we been acting as jurors.

Standard Oil Co. v. Nickerson, 138 So. 55 (Fla. 1931)

The federal rule on appeal and Florida law are the same when reviewing a district court's denial of a motion for judgment as a matter of law. That denial will be upheld if the court determines that "reasonable and fair-minded persons in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions." *Walker v. NationsBank of Florida, N.A.*, 53 F.3D 1548, 1555 (11th Cir. 1995). " 'We will reverse that denial only if we conclude that 'the facts and inferences point overwhelmingly in favor of [the moving party], such that reasonable people could not arrive at a contrary verdict.' "*Combs v. Plantation Patterns*, 106 F.3d 1519, 1526 (11th Cir. 1997); *Miller v. Kenworth of Dothan Inc.*, 277 F.3d 1269, 1275 (11th Cir. 2002). There is little room for argument that if this case were in federal court the decision of the jury would not have been reversed on appeal.

POINT II

THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD WAS NOT ERRONEOUS

Petitioner is urging this Court to reverse the punitive damages award because of the standard used at trial. Petitioner seems to be confused on this issue. Petitioner made no objection to the use of this jury instruction and in fact the Court actually gave Defendant's requested punitive damages instruction. (T. 651, T.652) It in fact is the Federal 11th Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction on Damages 2.1) (Appendix A is Petitoner's Proposed Jury

Instruction #20, which the Court gave as Instruction # 19. (T. 801) It is a more burdensome instruction for a Plaintiff than that customarily used in Florida cases. What is the appropriate punitive damages instruction for future cases, whether the instruction used in Dupont, or the Florida instruction under Mercury Motors Express Inc. v. Smith, 393 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1981) is the certified question presented to this Court by the Fifth District Court of Appeals. The Court has now accepted jurisdiction over this certified question. Since the more burdensome instruction for Plaintiffs was used in Dupont, there is no issue as to Dupont before this Court on the certified question as to punitive damages. What Petitioner seems to be complaining about is that it doesn't like the fact that even though it had the benefit of the instruction which favors a defendant, which it requested, the jury ruled in favor of Dupont, based upon the substantial evidence it had before it which supported the award of punitive damages.

Petitioner's *Kolstad* argument is disingenuous since what the trial court used as a punitive damages instruction is the Federal Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals instruction. If we are going to apply federal law to the Florida Civil Rights Act, that is exactly what the trial court did in this case. The 11th Circuit punitive damages instruction is the law of this case. Petitioner's statement at the top of p.21 of its Initial Brief is simply untrue,

its false. What the 5^{h} DCA did was to affirm a jury verdict on punitive damages where the jury was instructed using the very federal jury instruction Petitioner requested.

Petitioner's factual arguments are spurious as to the alleged "good faith" of Speedway in its efforts to remedy the sexual harassment to which Mrs. Dupont was subjected. First, let us not forget the daily videotapes which were regularly reviewed and from which its management had to have known about both the sexual harassment and the propensity for violent behavior of Coryell. Yet, they failed to take action, which should have been even before Mrs. Dupont made her complaints. Then, we have Mrs. Dupont making complaints to two levels of management, and then Bressler reported it to a third level of management, a District Manager, Rambo, and still no action. The testimony was that these 3 levels of management did not even report it to the Store Manager Gelbert. When Mrs. Dupont reported it to him, what did he do. He assigned her to the most undesirable shift, a shift where she overlapped with and was subjected to harassment by Coryell, then Assistant Manager Ruben ordered in Coryell to work with Mrs. Dupont and left her alone in the store with him, and finally Gelbert totally reneged on his promise, scheduled Mrs. Dupont to work again with Coryell and threatened to do it in the future. It's unbelievable that Speedway maintains that this

constitutes prompt, effective remedial action and that it acted in "good faith". What these facts show are quite to the contrary, it acted in "bad faith" or as the Fifth District Court of Appeals noted, it was negligent in its actions.

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